# Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC12-2624

DIANA COBA as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of ROBERT COBA, deceased,

Petitioner,

v.

TRICAM INDUSTRIES, INC., and HOME DEPOT, U.S.A., INC.,

Respondents.

---

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

---

---

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

---

ROY D. WASSON  
WASSON & ASSOCIATES, CHARTERED  
Courthouse Plaza—Suite 600  
28 West Flagler Street  
Miami, FL 33130  
(305) 372-5220 Telephone  
(305) 372-8067 Facsimile  
*roy@wassonandassociates.com*  
*e-service@wassonandassociates.com*

DEMAHY LABRADOR DRAKE VICTOR  
PAYNE & CABEZA, P.A.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS**

This case arises out of the wrongful death of Roberto Coba, who died following a fall from an extension ladder manufactured by the Defendant Tricam Industries, Inc. (“Tricam”) and sold by the Defendant Home Depot, U.S.A., Inc. (“Home Depot”). Mr. Coba, a civil engineer, was using the ladder as intended to perform a roof inspection on a home when the accident occurred. Tr. 107-10. After Mr. Coba had climbed the ladder, his fourteen year-old step-son Inri heard a metallic sound, and looked up to see the ladder bending in toward the wall. Tr. 140. With his thirteen year-old daughter Dorsey and her brother Inri watching in horror, Mr. Coba fell backwards to the concrete patio behind the house. Tr. 118-21. Inri tried to break the fall with his hands, “but he came down too fast and his weight was too much for [Inri] to hold.” Tr. 122.

Mr. Coba landed on his back on the concrete floor, hit his head and was rendered unconscious. Tr. 123. His panicked daughter tried to call 911, but she was crying and had difficulty speaking after seeing her father’s fatal fall. Tr. 124. Paramedics eventually arrived and transported Mr. Coba and the children to the hospital. Tr. 125. The children’s mother (Mr. Coba’s wife), the Plaintiff Diana Coba, met them at the hospital. Tr. 126. Mr. Coba lingered in a coma for ten days before dying from his injuries. Tr. 209.

It was Plaintiff's position at trial that the ladder failed due to the presence of defects and Defendants' negligence. Mr. Coba's step-son Inri Ochoa testified that there was no debris and nothing slippery on the concrete where Mr. Coba set up the ladder. Tr. 114. The concrete was not broken or uneven. Tr. 114.

Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Booeshaghi, is an accident reconstructionist with degrees in mechanical engineering, metal deformation, and biomechanics. Tr. 390. It was his opinion that the accident was caused by the ladder not locking in position, although appearing to be, which is called a "false lock." The failure to lock caused the ladder to telescope. Tr. 609.

Dr. Booeshaghi testified that the patent on the ladder indicated crossbars to increase the rigidity of the ladder's side rails, but the ladder did not have these braces. Tr. 448. Dr. Booeshaghi testified that the ladder was in a fully extended position and "that there is no way the ladder kicked out with it being in a fully extended position." Tr. 484. Dr. Booeshaghi stated that the pins from the J-locks can appear to be inserted in the outer rail, but not be in the locked position. The J-locks would still "click" as if in a locked position. Tr. 490-91. Because the ladder would still (at least temporarily) hold a person's weight, the user has a false sense of security—the ladder has a hidden danger. Tr. 492, 497.

Dr. Booeshaghi actually demonstrated the false locking mechanism to the jury,

placing the J-locks in the position where they appeared to have locked but were not. Tr. 490. He climbed up the ladder in front of the jury to demonstrate how it would hold a person's weight (at least temporarily) without being locked. Tr. 491.

When the ladder carries the user's load, the outside rail may be locked, but the inside rail is not and starts telescoping downward. Tr. 504. This caused the ladder to bounce like a pogo stick, fall forward while throwing Mr. Coba backward. The J-locks must not have been locked or else the accident would not have happened. Tr. 521. Dr. Booeshaghi testified that the Defendants should have warned the public that the ladder false-locks. Tr. 605.

Defendants' expert Ver Halen testified to his opinion that there was no design defect, and that the accident was caused by the ladder slipping. Tr. 663.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendants on Plaintiff's strict liability claim, finding that the Defendants did not "place the ladder on the market with a design defect, which was a legal cause of Roberto Coba's death." R.III-412. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff on her claim for negligence, but apportioned 80% comparative negligence to Roberto Coba. R.III-413. Neither party lodged an objection to the verdict as being inconsistent before the jury was discharged.

After the verdict, Plaintiff's counsel investigated the litigation history of the



jurors; found evidence that four of the jurors had concealed significant prior litigation; and filed a Motion to Interview Jurors. R.IV-598. The Plaintiff also filed a Motion for New Trial or for Additur. R.IV-611. The Motion for New Trial was based in part on the juror nondisclosures. R.IV-613.

The Defendants filed a Motion to Set Aside Verdict and to Enter Judgment in Accordance with Motion for Directed Verdict. R.IV-628.

The trial court granted Plaintiff's Motion to Interview Jurors, and the jurors in question were interviewed. SR. 1.<sup>1</sup> In those interviews, juror Willy Gamboa admitted to being a party in at least five prior lawsuits not disclosed during voir dire, including at least two that were still ongoing at the time of trial.

A lawsuit filed against Mr. Gamboa that he did not disclose in voir dire was a case filed by a medical provider called Team Health, an emergency room which had treated Mr. Gamboa for an injury to his back in 2006. SR. 37. That lawsuit against him was still ongoing at the time of the jury interview. SR. 38.

Another case involving Mr. Gamboa was a divorce proceeding filed in 1990. SR. 32. Although he hired a lawyer at the beginning of that case, it was resolved by agreement so he did not have to attend court. SR. 33.

---

<sup>1</sup> "SR" refers to the transcript of the October 6, 2010 interview of jurors, with which the record was supplemented by the order of the Third District dated November 29, 2011. No supplemental index was prepared by the clerk.

When asked about a case that appeared to be a mortgage foreclosure, Mr. Gamboa did not at first recall the name of the plaintiff, WHLN Real Estate, but he surmised that it was the holder of his mortgage. SR. 34. When asked if he had a case involving his home back in 2000, he responded: “I have had situations involving my home every year . . . [f]or something, or for some other reason.” SR. 35. He then recalled that the case back in 2000 was the foreclosure of the mortgage on the house he had transferred to his ex-wife. SR. 35-36.

A fourth case was a suit against him by Chrysler Financial Corporation arising out of a defaulted auto loan on a car he and his ex-wife had bought jointly. SR. 36. Mr. Gamboa was unsure whether that case was still ongoing, but he indicated that he thought it was still active because his ex-wife called him to report that “they are all calling me” in connection with that lawsuit. SR. 38.

A fifth undisclosed lawsuit was a mortgage foreclosure case on Mr. Gamboa’s current home filed by WS Holding Company. SR. 39. Mr. Gamboa had hired and fired two lawyers to defend him in that case, and most recently was representing himself because his latest lawyer “wasn’t giving [him] the results that [he] wanted.” Another foreclosure case involving Mr. Gamboa was filed by LaSalle Bank in 2008.

Judge Thomas asked Mr. Gamboa why he did not disclose those cases during voir dire; and he responded: “I didn’t recall that. I couldn’t recall all of them.” SR.

40. When asked specifically whether he recalled the cases that were still pending at the time of trial, the juror said: “Not at that moment. I wasn’t thinking of what do I have pending or not. I was thinking about, what am I getting into?” SR. 41.

At the close of the juror interviews, Judge Thomas read into the record the question from Mr. Gamboa’s jury questionnaire: “Have you or any family member ever been sued?” SR. 41. His response was “No.” SR. 42. During voir dire, Judge Thomas also had asked all of the panel members about their prior litigation history; the question, answered “No” by Mr. Gamboa was this: “And second row, have any of you ever been sued?” R.VIII p. 1271.

A hearing was held on the parties post-trial motions. R.VIII p.1418. The first ground argued on Plaintiff’s Motion for New Trial was the juror nondisclosures. R.VIII p.1420. Plaintiff’s trial counsel who had conducted voir dire represented “as an officer of the court that I definitely would have struck Mr. Gamboa” peremptorily, if he had truthfully revealed his litigation history, including the fact that he was still a party in ongoing lawsuits. R.VIII p.1434.

The trial court denied Plaintiff’s Motion for New Trial (R.VII p.1250), denied Defendants’ Motion to Set Aside Verdict (R.VII p.1249), and granted an additur in the amount of the medical bills: \$179,739. R.VII p. 1253. After reduction by 80% comparative negligence, that resulted in a total judgment of \$349,947.80. R.VII

p.1248. Defendants accepted the additur, and both parties appealed.

On appeal, the Third District reversed the denial of Defendants' motion for a directed verdict, holding both that the objection to the inconsistent verdict was not waived—because the inconsistency was “fundamental”—and that the proper remedy was not a new trial, but entry of judgment in favor of Defendants, as follows:

After the verdict was read, neither the plaintiff nor the defendants objected to the verdict. . . . [T]he defendants filed a motion to set aside the verdict and to enter judgment in accordance with their motion for a directed verdict. . . .

At the hearing, . . . the defendants argued that the verdict should be set aside because the jury's finding of negligence was fundamentally inconsistent with its finding that there was no design defect. Specifically, the defendants argued that there was insufficient evidence to sustain a verdict of negligence given that all of the plaintiff's evidence at trial related to the ladder's purported defective design, and the jury found that the ladder did not have a design defect. . . .

On appeal, the defendants argue that the jury's finding of negligence was fundamentally inconsistent with its finding that there was no design defect because there was insufficient evidence presented to sustain a verdict of negligence with respect to anything other than a design defect. Thus, the defendants argue the trial court erred in denying the defendants' motion to set aside the verdict in accordance with their motion for a directed verdict. We agree.

“In reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, an appellate court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Miami-Dade Cnty. v. Asad*, 78 So. 3d 660, 663-64 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012). A denial of a motion for a directed verdict must be reversed “if there is ‘no evidence upon which the jury could legally base a verdict’ in favor of the non-moving party.” *Id.* at

664 (quoting *Posner v. Walker*, 930 So. 2d 659, 665 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)).

The plaintiff concedes that the verdict in this case was inconsistent, but argues that the defendants waived their objection to the inconsistency by failing to object before the jury was discharged. Normally, we would agree. The Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, however, have carved out an exception to this general rule where the inconsistency “is of a fundamental nature.” See *Nissan Motor Co. v. Alvarez*, 891 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); *Am. Catamaran Racing Ass’n (NACRA) v. McCollister*, 480 So. 2d 669, 671 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Because we agree with the well-reasoned opinions of our sister courts to the north, and because there is no case in this district which has held to the contrary, we adopt the “fundamental nature” exception as applied in this context.

\* \* \*

Similarly, in *Alvarez*, the Fourth District rejected the plaintiffs’ argument that the defendants waived their challenge to an inconsistent verdict by failing to object before the jury was discharged, adopting the fundamental nature exception articulated in *NACRA. Alvarez*, 891 So. 2d at 8. *Alvarez* is on “all-fours” with the instant case.

*Alvarez* and her husband sued Nissan alleging claims of (1) strict liability based on a design defect and (2) negligence based on the design, manufacture, assembly, distribution, and/or sale of the vehicle, and failure to properly warn purchasers concerning the vehicle’s dangerous propensities. Despite these allegations in the complaint, the plaintiffs at trial confined their proof of negligence solely to the claim of a negligent design defect. The plaintiffs presented no evidence on the issue of negligent failure to warn or the other theories raised in the complaint.

The jury was presented with a verdict form nearly identical to those presented in *NACRA* and the instant case, which required the jury to answer the following questions:

1. Did the Defendants . . . place the Nissan Pathfinder on the market with a defect which was the legal cause of damage to the Plaintiff, Andrea Alvarez?

2. Was there negligence on the part of the Defendants . . . which was a legal cause of damage to the Plaintiff, Andrea Alvarez?

*Id.* at 6. The jury returned a verdict finding that there was no design defect, but that Nissan was negligent.

The Fourth District reversed, holding that the verdict was fundamentally inconsistent, reasoning as follows:

The Alvarezes' Amended Complaint alleged causes of action for both strict liability and negligence. As part of the negligence claim, the Alvarezes specifically alleged that Nissan failed to give proper warnings. However, at trial, the record reflects that the Alvarezes abandoned the failure to warn claim and instead focused entirely on the claim of a design defect. If the only evidence of negligence that the Alvarezes presented at trial related to the design defect, then the jury could not have found Nissan liable for negligence while finding that the vehicle did not contain a design defect.

*Id.*

In rejecting the plaintiffs' argument that the defendants waived their objection to the inconsistent verdict by failing to object before the jury was discharged, the Fourth District: noted the fundamental nature exception recognized by the Fifth District in *NACRA*; found the facts in *NACRA* analogous; concluded that, as in *NACRA*, the inconsistency was of a fundamental nature; and reversed the judgment and remanded for entry of judgment in the defendants' favor. *Id.* at 8.

In this case, like in *Alvarez*, the plaintiff alleged claims of strict

liability and negligence based on manufacturing and design defects, the distribution and sale of the products, and failure to warn, but then limited the presentation of evidence at trial solely to the product's purported design defect. The plaintiff did not elicit any testimony regarding a manufacturing or warning defect, did not introduce the warnings on the ladder into evidence, did not proffer evidence regarding negligence in the sale or distribution of the ladder, and expressly withdrew her manufacturing defect claim prior to closing arguments. Additionally, the jury was not instructed on either manufacturing defect or warning defect standards. Nevertheless, like in *Alvarez*, the jury returned a verdict finding that there was no design defect while also finding that the defendants were negligent. As in *Alvarez*, we conclude such a finding was fundamentally inconsistent because, “[i]f the only evidence of negligence [the plaintiff] presented at trial related to the design defect, then the jury could not have found [the defendants] liable for negligence while finding that the [product] did not contain a design defect.” *Id.* at 6.

***In sum, we agree with the analysis and holdings in NACRA and Alvarez. We hold that a party does not waive a challenge to a purported inconsistency in a verdict by failing to object prior to the discharge of the jury when the inconsistency is of a “fundamental nature.”*** Applying this reasoning to the case at bar, we hold that, given the jury's determination that there was no design defect, a finding of negligence is fundamentally insupportable because the only evidence of negligence proffered by the plaintiff related to a negligent design.

As the dissent emphasizes, in most cases featuring inconsistent verdicts, the appropriate remedy is to remand for a new trial because the jury's intent cannot be determined from the verdict. *See Grossman v. Greenberg*, 619 So. 2d 406, 409 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (“We remand for a new trial on the damages because we find the jury verdict inconsistent and the jury's intent cannot be determined from the verdict.”); *see also Spitz v. Prudential-Bache Sec., Inc.*, 549 So. 2d 777, 779 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). However, this case constitutes one of the few exceptions to the general rule. As we have explained, the only evidence offered against the defendants related to a purported design defect, and the jury specifically found there was no design defect. Because there was no

evidence to support any other cause of action, there remains no issue to be resolved on remand. We therefore reverse the trial court's denial of the defendants' motion to set aside the verdict in accordance with its motion for a directed verdict, and instruct the trial court to enter judgment in favor of the defendants. *See NACRA*, 480 So. 2d at 671.

*Tricam Inds, Inc. v. Coba*, 100 So. 3d 105, 108-112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2013)(emphasis added).

The Third District also affirmed the denial of a new trial based upon the jury non-disclosure issue, agreeing with the trial court that the Plaintiff failed to satisfy the "due diligence" prong of the inquiry. *Id.* at 114. The court held that one of the reasons why the Plaintiff failed to establish due diligence was that the Plaintiff did not during trial "run the jurors' litigation histories before the end of the trial" using computerized database records. *Id.* The court did not address the other arguments made for reversal in the opinion.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Third District erroneously ordered a directed verdict for the Defendants based upon the inconsistent verdict. The remedy for an inconsistent verdict should be grant of a new trial.

In the event that this Court does not accept the Petitioner's argument that the proper remedy for an inconsistent verdict is a new trial, then this Court should reverse the Third District's holding that the objection to the inconsistent verdict was not



waived because the inconsistency was fundamental. This Court should not recognize an exception to the preservation requirement of timely objection to an inconsistent verdict based upon a “fundamentally inconsistent” verdict. Therefore, if this matter is not reversed for a new trial, the judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for the amount awarded by the jury (plus the additur) should be reinstated.

This Court should order a new trial based upon the concealment by juror Gamboa of his significant litigation history, including cases against him still pending at the time of trial. The Third District’s conclusion that the “due diligence” prong was not met, in part because the Plaintiff did not investigate the jurors’ litigation history during trial, conflicts with this Court’s holding in *Roberts v. Tejada*, 814 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 2002) that parties have until the time for filing a motion for new trial to investigate jurors’ prior litigation history.

The Third District erred in affirming the trial court’s denial of a new trial based upon the exclusion of evidence that other products designed by Tricam’s Dennis Simpson had been recalled due to defects and by affirming the trial court’s refusal to allow impeachment of Mr. Simpson with his deposition testimony.

The Third District also erroneously affirmed the trial court’s rulings excluding evidence of the history of the ladder being made in China, because it could be made more cheaply there, and that it was a product no longer sold by Home Depot.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **THE PROPER REMEDY FOR AN INCONSISTENT VERDICT IS GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL INSTEAD OF A JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANTS**

Should this Court adopt the “fundamentally inconsistent” exception to the error preservation requirement of a timely objection before discharge of the jury, the Court should resolve the conflict between the districts on the proper remedy when an inconsistent verdict is returned by holding that a new trial is required. Where a special interrogatory verdict has two conflicting answers it is arbitrary to presume that the correct answer (the one that accurately reflects the jury’s resolution of the disputed issue) is the answer that came first in time.

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