TGEGKXGF."514314236"354548."Lqj p"C0"Vqo cukpq."Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SC12-2624

DIANA COBA, as personal representative of the ESTATE OF ROBERTO COBA, deceased, on behalf of the estate and survivor decedent,

Petitioner,

v.

TRICAM INDUSTRIES, INC., a foreign corporation, and HOME DEPOT U.S.A., INC., d/b/a HOME DEPOT, a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PETITION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL (CASE NO: 3D11-50)

Jeffrey A. Mowers, Esq.
Cindy J. Mishcon, Esq.
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
Attorneys for Appellants
200 S.W. 1<sup>st</sup> Avenue, Suite 910

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

In sum, for the reasons stated above, the Petition should be denied.

# II. DEFENDANTS DID NOT WAIVE AN OBJECTION TO THE INCONSISTENT VERDICT BY FAILING TO OBJECT PRIOR TO DISCHARGE OF THE JURY BECAUSE THE INCONSISTENT VERDICT WAS FUNDAMENTAL.

Plaintiff's second argument is that Defendants waived an objection to the inconsistent verdict by failing to object prior to discharge of the jury. Plaintiff's brief ignores a plethora of authority to the effect that a fundamentally inconsistent verdict can be raised for the first time after discharge of the jury and can even be raised for the first time on appeal. See generally

<u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970) ("'Fundamental error,' which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action.").

A dispositive case notably absent from Plaintiff's brief is North American Catamaran Racing Association, Inc. (NACRA) v. McCollister, 480 So.2d 669 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985). In NACRA, a boater was killed in a shark attack after her catamaran capsized. The boater's estate brought a products liability action against the catamaran's manufacturer alleging claims for strict liability and negligence. Both claims were based on the allegation that the manufacturer defectively designed the catamaran.

At trial, the jury was asked to answer the following questions: (1) Was the sailboat defective when sold and, if so, was the defect a legal cause of death of Christine Wapniarski? (2) Was there negligence on the part of defendant NACRA which was the legal cause of the death of Christine Wapniarski? The jury answered the first question "No" and the second question "Yes."

The manufacturer moved for a directed verdict, judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and new trial on the grounds that the estate failed to prove strict liability or negligence. From a denial of the motion and judgment against it, the manufacturer appealed. The Fifth District reversed, finding that the verdict was

fundamentally inconsistent "because the only evidence of negligence offered against NACRA at trial related to its alleged negligent design. But, the jury found that there was no design defect. And if that were true, there was no other evidence to sustain the jury's verdict in this case." NACRA at 671 (citations omitted). The court stated that, "[a]ccordingly, we have no alternative but to reverse the judgment and remand for entry of judgment in NACRA's favor."

Another dispositive case also notably absent from Plaintiff's brief is Nissan Motor Co, Ltd. v. Alvarez, 891 So.2d 4 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004). In Nissan, a motorist brought a products liability action against an automobile manufacturer after a rollover accident. The lawsuit alleged claims for strict liability and negligence. The strict liability claim was based on an alleged design defect. The negligence claim was based on the manufacturer's duty to use reasonable care in the design, manufacture, assembly, distribution, and/or sale of the vehicle. The motorist specifically alleged that the manufacturer negligently failed to give proper warnings to the purchaser concerning the vehicle's dangerous propensities.

During trial, the focus of the motorist's claim was that the

The court did not order a new trial, even though a new trial motion had been filed; rather, it ordered a judgment for the defendant.

vehicle contained a design defect that made it more susceptible to "rollovers." The motorist presented a significant amount of expert testimony and evidence about the vehicle's design. The motorist argued that the vehicle was defective and that the manufacturer knew that the vehicle was defective when it sold it. Critically, the motorist presented <u>no</u> evidence on the negligent failure to warn issue. The manufacturer presented its own expert witnesses and evidence that the vehicle did not have a design defect.

The trial court instructed the jury on both negligence and strict liability. The negligence instruction was limited to negligent design, manufacture, assembly or distribution. The motorists did not request a jury instruction on negligent failure to warn, and no such instruction was given. The strict liability instruction was limited to design.

The verdict form required the jury to answer the following questions: 1. Did the Defendants, Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A., and Vernon Scott Motors, place the Nissan Pathfinder on the market with a defect which was a legal cause of damage to the Plaintiff, Andrea Alvarez? 2. Was there negligence on the part of the Defendants Nissan Motor Co. Ltd. and Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A. which was a legal cause of damage to the Plaintiff, Andrea Alvarez? The motorists did not submit a verdict form that included negligent failure to warn.

After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict finding there was no design defect, but that the manufacturer was negligent in the design, manufacture, assembly, distribution, or sale of the vehicle. In post-trial motions, the manufacturer argued that the jury's verdict was inconsistent because, under the evidence presented at trial, the jury could not have found Nissan liable for negligence while also specifically finding that there was no design defect. In response, the motorists argued that the jury's verdict was proper because there was sufficient evidence to find the manufacturer negligent for "failure to warn" which does not require a finding of a design defect. The trial court agreed with the motorists, and it specifically stated in the order denying the manufacturer's post-trial motions that it found that the motorists presented sufficient evidence and argument to establish that the manufacturer was negligent, independent of the alleged defect.

The Fourth District disagreed with the motorists and with the trial court. In pertinent part, the Fourth District stated:

The Alvarezes' Amended Complaint alleged causes of action for both strict liability and negligence. As part of the negligence claim, the Alvarezes specifically alleged that Nissan failed to give proper warnings. However, at trial, the record reflects that the Alvarezes abandoned the failure to warn claim and instead focused entirely on the claim of a design defect. If the only evidence of negligence that the Alvarezes presented at trial related to the design defect, then the jury could not have found Nissan liable for negligence while finding that the vehicle did not contain a design defect.

.

Nissan argues that the instant case is more similar to <a href="Terex">Terex</a>6 and <a href="Anheuser-Busch">Anheuser-Busch</a>7 because the record evidence cannot sustain a finding of negligent failure to warn. Nissan makes two arguments in support of its appeal: 1) the Alvarezes presented insufficient evidence at trial to support their claim of a negligent failure to warn and 2) the jury was not instructed on the Alvarezes' claim of failure to warn and therefore, the jury could not find Nissan liable on that basis. We agree.

.

We agree with the reasoning of the fifth district that since there was no evidence of negligence other than negligent design, there can be no basis to sustain the jury's verdict. We therefore reverse the Final Judgment and direct the trial court to enter a judgment for the defendants.

Nissan at 6-8.

In <u>Terex Corp. v. Bell</u>, 689 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), the plaintiff and his wife brought suit after he was injured operating a crane, which had been sold by the defendant. The jury found that the crane was not defective, but held the defendant 43% negligent. On appeal, the Fifth District reversed the verdict on the basis that it was inconsistent. The Fifth District stated, "[b]ecause the only evidence of negligence offered against appellant at trial related to its alleged negligent design and the jury found there was no design defect, there was no other evidence to sustain its verdict."

In Anheuser-Busch, Inc. v. Lenz, 669 So.2d 271 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), the Fifth District held that a brewer was not liable for injuries suffered by a restaurant employee when a beer bottle exploded where the jury specifically found no defect in the bottle when it was placed on the market and there was no other evidence of negligence on the part of the brewer.

The facts in "Coba" are non-distinguishable in all pertinent respects to the facts in the Fifth District's <u>NACRA</u> decision and the Fourth District's <u>Nissan</u> decision, with which the Third District aligned itself in this case. Despite the similarity of the facts, Plaintiff does not even mention <u>NACRA</u> or <u>Nissan</u> in the Brief. Instead, Plaintiff relies primarily on the Fourth District's decision in <u>Moorman v. American Safety Equipment</u>, 594 So.2d 795 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Moorman is both distinguishable and does not control in this case for the simple reason that the plaintiff in Moorman pled negligent failure to warn (which does not require a product defect). Further, plaintiff presented evidence at trial on the warning claim, and the jury was instructed on negligent failure to warn. In addition, the alleged defect in the product for which the manufacturer purportedly had a duty to warn developed not at the time of manufacture, but subsequent to the manufacture date through ordinary use of the product. Also, only the strict liability instruction required that the defect be present "when it left the possession" of the defendant, and the general definition of product defect given to the jury in the instructions was not limited in its terms to a manufacturer's plant defect. On these facts (none of which are germane to the case at hand), the Fourth District concluded that this verdict was not inconsistent, let alone

fundamentally inconsistent, for the jury to answer "no" to the question whether the defendant placed a seatbelt on the market with a defect which was the legal cause of damage to the plaintiff, and "yes" to the question whether there was negligence on the part of the defendant which was the legal cause of damage to the plaintiff.

Given that a fundamentally inconsistent verdict was not involved, Moorman 1) does not control the outcome of this case nor 2) establish a basis for conflict jurisdiction.

Equally significant, subsequent to <u>Moorman</u>, the Fourth District addressed the issue of an inconsistent verdict in <u>Nissan</u> (discussed above) with a different result because the inconsistency in <u>Nissan</u> was of a fundamental nature. Addressing waiver, the Fourth District expressly acknowledged its earlier decision in <u>Moorman</u>, but declined to follow it; instead, the Fourth District followed the Fifth District in <u>NACRA</u>, concluding that the defendant did not waive the defect in the verdict by failing to object prior to discharge of the duty because the verdict was fundamentally inconsistent.<sup>8</sup>

Plaintiff cites several other cases in this section of the Initial Brief, but none of the cases hold that a party waives a fundamentally inconsistent verdict, as opposed to an inconsistent verdict, by failure to object prior to discharge of the jury. The cases are J.T.A. Factors, Inc. v. Philcon Svcs, Inc., 820 So.2d 367 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), Gup v. Cook, 549 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), Progressive Select Ins. Co. v. Lorenzo, 49 So.3d 272 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), Cocca v. Smith, 821 So.2d 328 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), and Hendelman v. Lion Country Safari, Inc., 609 So.766 (Fla. 4th DCA 4838-7271-0937.1

In "Coba," Plaintiff has not and can not make a persuasive the subject verdict is argument that not fundamentally inconsistent. "'Fundamental error,' which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action." Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970). The error in "Coba" is fundamental because Florida law is clear: In every products liability case, whether the case is founded on negligence, breach of an implied warranty or strict liability, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing, among other things, that a defect was present in the product. Cassisi v. Maytag Co., 396 So.2d 1140, 1143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Royal v. Black and Decker Mfg. Co., 205 So.2d 307, 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967) ("Whatever form of liability is pursued--whether it be negligence, warranty, or strict liability--certain common denominators are inescapable. At the heart of each theory is the requirement that the plaintiff's injury must have been caused by some defect in the product. Generally, when the injury is in no way attributable to a defect, there is no basis for imposing product liability upon the manufacturer.").

Given that a defect is a required and necessary element of a products liability case, the verdict in this case is irrefutably

<sup>1992).</sup> 

fundamentally inconsistent. Accordingly, the Third District correctly ruled that no waiver occurred by Defendants' failure to object prior to discharge of the jury. See also Palm Beach County v. Awadallah, 538 So.2d 142, 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) ("In the instant case, the jury verdict and the judgment are contrary to the law in that one of the elements for the awarding of business damages, that the business be located on adjoining land owned by the party whose property is being taken, was not satisfied. We agree with the County's contention here that the fundamental error concept is applicable."); Keyes Co. v. Sens, 382 So. 2d 1273, 1275 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (failure to object to jury verdict assessing greater damages against principal than agent's conduct caused may be excused because error goes to ultimate merits of the cause).

It also makes no difference, as alleged by Plaintiff, whether the "negligence question" precedes or comes after the strict liability question in a case like this where the negligence allegation is based solely on the product containing a design defect. If the "negligence question" precedes the "strict liability question" and the jury answers "Yes" to the negligence question, it would be crystal clear that the jury's answer to that question was error once the jury answers "No" to the second question of whether the product contains a design defect. Given the specific nature of the second question, it would be unreasonable to conclude or

hypothesize that the answer to the second question may have been the error, which Plaintiff contends may have occurred.

Finally, this Court should reject Plaintiff's contention that Defendants (somehow) invited the error by failing to object to the verdict form prior to it being submitted to the jury. Plaintiff suggests that Defendants should have proposed a verdict form that instructed the jury not to answer the negligence question in the event it answered no to the product defect question. Plaintiff's argument is invalid because at the time the verdict form was submitted to the jury, the court had not ruled on Defendants' directed verdict motion; thus, the negligence and strict liability claims were both pending entitling Plaintiff to a jury decision on both claims. Further, Plaintiff maintained below and even through the Third District appeal that there was sufficient evidence, aside from a product defect, upon which the jury could find in favor of Plaintiff on the negligence claim. The trial court agreed, denying Defendants' directed verdict motion. As long as both claims remained for the jury to decide, the verdict form which Plaintiff now suggests that Defendants should have proposed, would have been improper and rejected.

Defendants specifically contend that, due to the fundamentally inconsistent verdict, they did not waive the objection by failing to object prior to discharge of the jury. Defendants further

contend that no conflict exists between the Third District's decision in this case and the decision of any other district court or of this Court. Thus, no basis for conflict jurisdiction exists.

III. A NEW TRIAL IS NOT WARRANTED BASED ON CONCEALMENT OF LITIGATION HISTORY BY JUROR GAMBOA BECAUSE THE INFORMATION WAS NOT RELEVANT AND MATERIAL TO JURY SERVICE, JUROR GAMBOA DID NOT CONCEAL THE INFORMATION DURING QUESTIONING, AND ANY FAILURE TO DISCLOSE BY JUROR GAMBOA WAS ATTRIBUTABLE TO PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL'S LACK OF DILIGENCE.

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